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>>Committee commenced at 13:31

Chairman (Mr. Main)(interpretation): Good
day. Before we proceed, Mr. Qirngnugq, can you
say the opening prayer, please. Thank you.

>>Prayer

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Qirngnugq. First of all, I ask all Members,
witnesses, and visitors to place their cellphones
and other electronic devices on silent mode.
That is just a reminder.

I would like to formally welcome everyone to
this meeting of the Legislative Assembly’s
Standing Committee on Government
Operations and Public Accounts.

First, I would like to introduce my Standing
Committee colleagues, who are no strangers to
their constituents, but they are:

e Tony Akoak, Member for Gjoa Haven;

e Pauloosie Keyootak, Member for
Ugqummiut;

e Adam Arreak Lightstone, Member for
Iqaluit-Manirajak;

e Allan Rumbolt, Member for Hudson Bay;

e (Craig Simailak, Member for Baker Lake;
and

e Emiliano Qirngnuq, Member for Netsilik.

(interpretation ends) The terms of reference for
this Standing Committee include the mandate
to review the reports of the Independent
Officers of the Legislative Assembly of
Nunavut, including those of the Representative
for Children and Youth.
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The responsibilities of the Representative for
Children and Youth are prescribed by territorial
legislation, the Representative for Children and
Youth Act, which was passed on September 17,
2013 by the Third Legislative Assembly of
Nunavut.

Ms. Jane Bates was appointed as Nunavut’s
second Representative for Children and Youth
on June 6, 2019.

We are meeting today to conduct our Standing
Committee’s televised hearing on Ms. Bates’
first annual report, for the 2019-2020 fiscal
year, which was tabled in the House on
September 21, 2020.

I would like to welcome Ms. Bates and her
staff. While this is not Ms. Bates’ first
appearance before a standing committee of the
Legislative Assembly, as she previously
appeared before the Standing Committee on
Legislation during its hearings on Bill 25, this
is her first appearance before this Committee to
focus on the operations of her office and the
contents of her annual report. I anticipate that
we will also address issues that were raised in
the Representative for Children and Youth’s
report Our Minds Matter: A Youth-Informed
Review of Mental Health Services for Young
Nunavummiut which was tabled in the House
on May 28, 2019.

The Office of the Representative for Children
and Youth has a number of statutorily
prescribed areas of responsibility relating to the
rights and interests of children and youth,
including advocacy, advice, and assistance
regarding government services for children and
youth, providing advice and recommendations
to government departments and designated
authorities, as well as the administration of the
office.

The representative’s annual report identifies a
number of key government departments with
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which her office works on a regular basis. We
are therefore very pleased to also welcome
witnesses from the Government of Nunavut
departments of Family Services, Health,
Education and Justice.

Following these hearings, and in keeping with
parliamentary practice, the Standing Committee
will be reporting its findings and
recommendations to the Legislative Assembly
during the fall sitting.

I would like to take this opportunity to note that
while sub section 40(1) of the Representative
for Children and Youth Act does provide that
the Legislative Assembly or one of its
committees shall review the provisions and
operations of the Act, that is not our objective
today. That review will be conducted in the
future as determined by the Legislative
Assembly as a whole. The Office of the
Representative for Children and Youth will be
involved in that process at the appropriate time.

(interpretation) I would like to conclude by
addressing some housekeeping matters.

This hearing is being televised live across
Nunavut on local community cable stations and
direct-to-home satellite service. Transcripts of
the hearing will be posted on the Legislative
Assembly’s website.

For the benefit of our recording system, I ask
witnesses to always go through the Chair when
responding to Members’ questions and
interventions and to wait until I invite you to
speak before activating your microphone.

(interpretation ends) Once more, [ would like to
remind all Members, witnesses, and visitors to
place their cellphones and other electronic
devices on silent mode. That includes
Committee Members.

With that, I will again welcome today’s
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witnesses to this hearing and would ask the
Representative for Children and Youth to
introduce her staff and then proceed with her
opening comments to be followed by the
opening comments from departmental
witnesses. (interpretation) Thank you.
(interpretation ends) I’1l turn it over to you, Ms.
Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and
good afternoon. Joining me today are Lynn
Matte, the Director of Child and Youth

Advocacy Services, and David Korgak, the
Manager of Individual Advocacy Services.

I would also like to acknowledge the officials
from the four main child and youth serving
departments which our office works with on a
regular basis. The Department of Education, the
Department of Family Services, the Department
of Health, and the Department of Justice, I am
pleased that the Standing Committee requested
your presence and participation in today’s
proceedings. Welcome.

As you all know, the Representative for
Children and Youth’s Office is an independent
office of the Legislative Assembly of Nunavut.
As such, it is my office’s responsibility to make
sure that the services and supports offered and
provided by the Government of Nunavut are
ethical, equitable, and consistent for each and
every young Nunavummiuq and their families.

Before I go any further, the staff at the
Representative for Children and Youth’s Office
would like to acknowledge the many people
who worked tirelessly to provide the services
that we all rely on and do so with the best
interests of all Nunavummiut in mind. We see
you, and we thank you. However, as the role of
an independent office, what are brought to our
attention are the complaints, the problems, and
the gaps. We bring these concerns to your
attention so that we can work together to
improve services for young Nunavummiut, and
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this is what we’re all here to discuss today.

The 2019-2020 fiscal year was busy. My office
received the highest number of complaints to
date and we opened 98 new individual
advocacy cases.

We released our first systemic report titled Our
Minds Matter: A Youth-Informed Review of
Mental Health Services for Young
Nunavummiut.

We changed the way we deal with and report
on systemic issues, and we made a total of 33
recommendations to government.

Based on feedback received from our
stakeholders, we revised the way we explain
our work.

We engaged our elder advisors to ensure our
interpretation of Inuit societal values and child
rights as outlined in the United Nation
Convention on the Rights of the Child work
together.

All across the territory we connected with more
than 1,100 young people, offering our Raise
Your Voice: Self-Advocacy Workshop and Sila
is Cold: the Igloo Game activity.

This is to name just a few things that my office
did this year. With this in mind, I hope you use
the knowledge of my office to acknowledge the
shortcomings and gaps in services that we
know exist and work together to take corrective
action to address these problems, while keeping
the best interests of young Nunavummiut, their
families, and the future of Nunavut as a whole
in mind.

As many of you have noticed, our 2019-2020

annual report is quite different from previous

years. The changes that you see in this annual
report were made based on feedback provided
to my office from the Management and
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Services Board and Standing Committee. After
we released the 2019-2020 annual report and it
received exposure from the media and in the
Legislative Assembly, we received mixed
feedback from the departments regarding the
format and content. Some departments wanted
to work with us to ensure the information was
as accurate and complete as possible and some
did not, citing privacy as a concern. I welcome
feedback from the Standing Committee on the
revised format and content of our annual report.

One of the biggest changes to our report is the
addition of the “Status of Young
Nunavummiut” section. As I mention in the
representative’s message, the purpose of this
section is to provide baseline information that
could be used by decision-makers such as
yourselves to inform your decisions and assist
in providing a clear, collaborative and proactive
way forward together. As such, we will
continue to provide this section year after year.

I would like to clarify that the information
presented in the “Status of Young
Nunavummiut” section is not our information.
It was provided to my office by government
departments. It took my staff many hours to sift
through, decipher, and clarify what was
provided. Prior to publishing our report, we
provided departments with a copy of their page
and gave them the opportunity to provide
further feedback or clarification to confirm the
accuracy of the final publication.

Through this process, what my office learned
and what I think we all here today learned from
the evidence on these pages is the majority of
basic information about government services
for young people is not being tracked
accurately or consistently. What this leads me
to question is: how is this government making
decisions, how are decisions about
programming being made, how is funding
being allocated, and how are the needs of
young Nunavummiut being met if we don’t
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know how many people are accessing which
services? And the most important question:
who is accountable for these decisions?

Since tabling our 2019-2020 annual report, it
has been referenced numerous times in the
Legislative Assembly, mainly when
questioning the accountability of government
departments. This is the purpose of our report.
This is the purpose of the work of my office. It
is the responsibility of my office to bring these
issues stemming from the gaps and problems
with services to your attention, and it is the
responsibility of my office to hold government
departments accountable for the improvements
that need to be made, but the responsibility for
acknowledging the need for improvement,
taking corrective action, and making
improvement lies with the government. My
office did not create these issues. In fact many
of them have existed and departments have
been aware of them for years, with little or no
action being taken to address them, but we
must turn our focus to urgent action required to
fix these problems and close the gaps.

Behind every statistic in our report, every
recommendation made and every problem or
issue brought to my office’s attention for
review are children, youth, and families who
are depending on us to help them with their
best lives and make decisions considerate of
their best interests. I call on all of you to rise to
this challenge. I look forward to a collaborative
and constructive conversation. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you, Ms.
Bates. The government departments are present
here: the Department of Family Services, the
Department of Justice, the Department of
Health, and the Department of Education. We
will have the Department of Family Services go
first. Deputy Minister, Ms. Niego.
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Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Good day. (interpretation ends)
First, allow me to introduce my colleague,
Arijana Haramincic, Executive Director for
Family Wellness of the Department of Family
Services, who is accompanying me today.

We are honoured and thank the Standing
Committee for the invitation to speak today.

I also would like to make special mention of
the children and youth of Nunavut. Youth, we
look to you as our future; please never lose
sight of that.

I am pleased to provide information on the
continued improvements to the department’s
programs and services in order to best serve
Nunavummiut. Our ongoing work also includes
maintaining an open line of communication
with the Representative of the Children and
Youth’s Office and utilizing their input to help
inform the changes being implemented.

Since the Department of Family Services began
operations in 2013, it has consistently identified
the need for additional resources and funding
for program enhancements and additional staff.
The department has been in a state of constant
change at all levels of staffing. We have and
continue to experience a number of challenges
primarily related to staffing, including high
turnover and retention rates, the department’s
organizational structure, and subsequent
reporting lines.

Although these challenges exist within each of
the department’s divisions, these challenges
most notably affect the operations of what was
known as the Children and Family Services
Division which is now called Family Wellness.
These challenges are highlighted in the 2014
Report on Child and Family Services in
Nunavut published by the Office of the Auditor
General of Canada. The report concluded that
the department had not made satisfactory
progress in a number of areas identified in an
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earlier 2011 report, when Family Services was
still Health and Social Services. Although some
progress was made to strengthen and improve
the services delivered to children and families
in Nunavut, the report ultimately noted that
serious gaps and challenges remained,
including:

e The department’s capacity to sustain
consistent and adequate staffing levels;

e The excessive workloads faced by
community social service workers, causing
staff burnout, high turnover rates, and
inhibiting CSSWs’, or community social
service workers, ability to deliver
prevention-based services;

e The need for more staff training;

e Compliance with key child protection
standards; and

e Lack of engagement with parents and
communities in strategies for keeping
children safe.

Despite efforts to address some of these gaps
across the department, systemic issues
remained. In 2017-18 the department conducted
an organizational review. The objective was to
identify opportunities to improve the
effectiveness of the department’s organizational
design and ensure staffing alignment. The
overarching intention was to best position the
department to provide Nunavummiut with
quality programs and services. The scope of the
organizational review included all divisions,
programs, and positions across the territory.
Consultation was conducted with
representatives and stakeholders from the
existing divisions in the department to gather
insight into what key informants felt was
working and what could be improved.

A significant step in the department’s efforts to
improve service delivery and address the many
challenges was to focus on the creation of a
new Division of Family Wellness and the
establishment of new senior managers across

2011-T Dobbc<dc D®/Ldo®, Ac NI nrbde
A <Co®DcnAbd ot Aocnabdiat
CAYD>NONE, ARSI N 5NC
Ao ANYSDNO®, CLed ANYSDNC
0CSb o, Ac .0 5 0a DT, DSb>YDc >seDse
Dobbab b PSa®IC d o GSb> H<%D 5 ALLC
Cbd<:

e Aocnpbdt APLYYNA*arta o™
ASPba AY*No®;

o L AYNbOLSoM ot oacto
Aocnp,PI ot CboddeNe
O%bYRAND, <L Cdd Aocnene
?2 1CNY<P*asd o< Ne Abn<cl®o®;

o Acto<®NCPb*ondc™M ot oM
Aba AS®NE;

o LcPdc™MC Lad®asors; <o

o AcPN*NY* N O™ A*anyP>No®
oac*o oC®bt oA daNe.

CLbdd AL<IDNC ALOK®NESNC A
ba/®a ®>C QL S, 2017-18-T AocnbdC
NMsdN*Lea® SPrPcD>SLC AdASeYJLE 5N
JBPPIPNENLE T ST AMPSGE/<Io N Lo NITD<
Aoc*Lo*Lo® <L

ASba ALPNCYSHE/<SHECSI<ONE,
JGLALD> O PPI® Codd A<IE ¢

Ao nibde ADEa® ANYSDNHP a SdoNC
Ao, 4PNl NMSIN<C, SPrPa>*La®
Acn<No®, APba Abab 0a P 5CCe CHIPA.
D>SbSbNNvoshe<c P>e>JC PLLIeIgb
LOBCPNT® AcndN®o. DPboPL<SC PA
be’S/<Ie/LLLUC, PAS PN DL L C.

ARCIPNNILL2C NIMSINCC ANYGD> N
br/S/<dase <Ll <bAPSa 5eDC AL 5NC
Ac NP<osIC ANa€ YD IdPNEN e o,

10




Nunavut to strengthen the department’s
capacity to meet its mandate.

The Family Wellness Division provides a range
of support services for children and adults in
vulnerable situations who may require
protection or other specialized support. The
division assists individuals, families, groups,
and communities to develop skills and make
use of both personal and community resources
to enhance their well-being.

The reorganizational changes have helped to
balance workloads in Baffin, Nunavut’s largest
region, strengthen supervision and management
support in all divisions, and improve
communication with internal and external
stakeholders.

Along with the structural reorganizations, the
department has worked to improve several
other areas within services and programming in
the Family Wellness Division. Many of the
department’s improvements include having
followed up with and taken into consideration
many of the representative’s ongoing
recommendations. Some of these
improvements include staff training, creating a
critical incident database, creating a quality
assurance team, improving operational and
administrative processes, and improving
accessibility to programs and services.

Staff training remains a priority for Family
Services. Statutory training is a legislated
requirement for community social service
workers. The department is responsible and
accountable to ensure that all staff have the
skills to deliver programs according to
applicable legislation and departmental
standards and procedures. Improvements have
been made to provide timely statutory training,
but more targeted training and professional
development is required to more broadly
increase capacity across the workforce.
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The department has worked to create a database
of critical incidents and a quality assurance
team consisting of a quality assurance specialist
position and a senior compliance analyst
position. These positions support family
wellness functions in the territory with primary
focus on effective and efficient delivery of
child welfare, adult services, and family
violence programs.

Family Services also believes that our ability to
deliver excellent programs and services is
dependent on organizational effectiveness and
efficiency. In order to support the successful
management of the system, including
governance, administrative procedures,
information management and technology, and
informed decision-making and planning, the
department is committed to improving the
proficiency of its operational and
administrative processes. The department will
continue to enhance its data systems to ensure
that decision-making and planning are founded
on evidence-based information.

In addition to the improvements I have outlined
above, the department has made progress in
many other areas, including:

e created territory-wide 1-855 telephone line
for comments, compliments, and
complaints;

e created territory-wide 1-844-FW-CHILD
telephone number for child welfare
protection;

e initiated ongoing lunch and learn sessions
with staff on topics such as self-care, legal
concerns, Inuit societal values, family
wellness, caseworker standards, and family
violence, among others;

e delivered six modules of online training for
foster parents;

e currently revising and creating a new
training and education curriculum for
frontline workers and supervisors;

e implementing management training;
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e implemented a call log to track referrals,
source, reason, and type of follow-up;

e increased foster care rates;

e implementing an annual process to review
the rights of children and youth in care;

e implemented permanency planning for each
child and youth in care and focusing on
repatriation of children and youth that are
currently in care outside of the territory
through permanency planning.

¢ In collaboration with Nunavut Arctic
College, created a certificate program for
family resource workers, with family
resource certificate as a first step on a
pathway to a professional social work
education.

I would like to reiterate that my department is
committed to ensuring the safety and well-
being of Nunavummiut and it is at the forefront
in all that we do. I am proud of the progress
that we have made in ensuring that our
programs and services meet the needs of
Nunavut’s most deserving, our children and
their caregivers. We will continue to strive
forward and implement ongoing and necessary
improvements to help serve and provide for our
children, families, and communities.

Iksivautaaq, the representative is well suited as
a child advocacy office to support the
Government of Nunavut’s efforts to raise
awareness around the systemic challenges

facing children, youth, and families in Nunavut.

Raising awareness around these systemic
challenges takes a concerted effort from all of
us to enact meaningful and long-lasting change.
The Department of Family Services will
continue to work with the representative’s
office on individual advocacy cases and engage
with them on the broader systemic challenges

facing children, youth, and families in Nunavut.

This concludes my opening comments. I would
be pleased to answer questions that Members
may have.
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(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you, Ms.
Niego. Department of Justice, Deputy Minister,
Mr. Mansell.

Mr. Mansell (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you, Members, for inviting
me here to speak to the relationship between
the Department of Justice and the
Representative for Children and Youth and,
more broadly, to speak to how our department
provides services and supports to children and
youth in Nunavut.

The Department of Justice has worked hard to
cultivate a positive working relationship with
the Representative for Children and Youth’s
Office (RCYO) since its inception.

Over the past year we have worked closely with
the representative and her office to respond to
incoming requests, build a positive and open
dialogue with their office, and align our
information collection and reporting processes
to better account for our activities.

There are signs of progress when it comes to
the Department of Justice’s role in ensuring the
needs of children and youth are considered in
our services, supports, and systems. While
Justice received only two new individual
advocacy cases in 2019-2020 (page 16), we
received four recommendations for
improvement (page 17) and seven systemic
issues overall, two of which have been
successfully resolved, four of which are in
progress, and one which is awaiting action
(page 20) at the time the report was published.

Chairperson, the Department of Justice takes
the recommendations from the representative’s
office seriously, and is actively engaging with
them to ensure that all individual and systemic
issues are appropriately addressed in a timely
fashion.
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In addition, we are improving the way in which
we collect and track data pertaining to children
and youth. Members may have noticed on page
9 of the annual report before you that there are
three categories pertaining to youth in the court
system for which Justice did not provide
information. This was in part due to differences
in how the information is collected by the
Department of Justice and how it was requested
by the Representative for Children and Y outh.

Chairperson, I have met with the representative
to explain how information is collected by the
Department of Justice and to discuss some
challenges we had in responding to their
request last year. This meeting was very
positive. I believe the representative understood
some of the challenges we have with respect to
data collection, and we acknowledge the need
to provide the representative with a full and
accurate response to their requests.

Going forward, I am confident that the
Department of Justice’s section of the annual
report will be complete with the requested data
and will be reflective of the current state of
children and youth in the territory. We have
already responded to the representative’s
request for information for the 2020-21 fiscal
year and I am pleased to say that we were able
to provide a fulsome, detailed and complete
response. | want to thank the representative for
the productive dialogue we’ve had to date and I
look forward to our ongoing collaboration.

Mr. Chairman, the department has several
programs and services specifically designed for
children and youth in the territory and I would
like to take this opportunity to highlight a few
of them here in my opening comments.

The first of these programs is an alternative to
the formal justice system through community
justice committees created under the Young
Offenders Act. These committees use
restorative justice and Inuit societal values to
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address youth crime in a culturally responsive
way that addresses the needs of the youth
offender and attempts to heal their relationship
to the community. These committees do this
through facilitated interactions between the
young person and the victim so that the young
person understands the harm that was done and
how it affected people around them. The
committee can direct the young person to
programs and services they may benefit from,
as well as provide restitution for the victim.

For those youth sentenced to custody for an
offence in Nunavut, the Department of Justice
operates a youth correctional facility in the
territory, the Isumagsunngittukkuvik Youth
Facility. This facility accepts youth of all
sentence types and has a dedicated staff of
professionals that work with youth to
successfully rehabilitate and reintegrate them
back into their community.

The Department of Justice is aware that it can
be very intimidating and confusing for a child
involved in a family law matter or having to
testify in court. For these reasons, our court
services and victim services staff work together
to help children who are going to testify in
court by taking them on a tour of the
courthouse and explaining the court and legal
process in a language that children can
understand. Courts also work to put up screens
or use closed circuit television (CCTV) for
children who need those protections when
they’re testifying in court. In addition, our
family mediator recently developed a child-
friendly workbook to help children and families
understand and talk about divorce and custody
issues.

Mr. Chairman, the Department of Justice
strives to ensure that Nunavut children and
youth are safe and supported by our programs
and considered in all facets of our operations
and planning. We look forward to continuing
our work with the Representative for Children
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and Youth to ensure our programs and services
meet the needs of our young people in
Nunavut.

Mr. Chairman, this concludes my opening
comments, and [ welcome any questions from
the Committee. (interpretation) Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Mansell. The Department of Health is also
present here. Deputy Minister, Ms. Stockley.

Ms. Stockley: Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman
and Members. I am pleased to appear today
before the Standing Committee on Oversight of
Government Operations and Public Accounts. |
would like to introduce the official with me
today: Victoria Madsen, who is the Acting
Assistant Deputy Minister of Inuusivut, Mental
Health and Addictions.

I would like to start by thanking the Standing
Committee for the opportunity to speak to the
observations contained in the Representative
for Children and Youth’s 2019-2020 Annual
Report and to provide information on the
Department of Health’s work and involvement
with the representative.

I also want to take this opportunity to thank the
Representative for Children and Youth for the
important work they do to ensure that the rights
of young Nunavummiut are protected and
respected.

The Department of Health has worked with the
Representative for Children and Youth since its
inception to improve services and programs for
young Nunavummiut. This ongoing dialogue is
important to ensure that both organizations
achieve the best possible results for Nunavut’s
children and youth, but also to ensure common
understanding between both parties’ needs,
processes, and capacity. Collaboration and
communication are paramount. It should be
noted that the Department of Health and the
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Representative for Children and Youth have
recently formalized an information sharing
process for future annual reports and I welcome
this positive collaboration.

As we all know, the pandemic has greatly
impacted the Government of Nunavut’s
operations and has, in some cases, resulted in a
change in priorities. Despite this, the
Department of Health has continued to work
with the representative throughout COVID-19,
attending to individual advocacy cases and
requests for information. Health and its staff
have worked hard to ensure services for
children and youth continue, while leading the
COVID-19 response. The department found
innovative solutions to adapt to this new reality.
For example, mental health and addictions staff
across the territory worked to engage children
and youth remotely during the pandemic with
different creative activities promoting
awareness of mental health services and
supports.

Mental health has remained a priority during
the pandemic, and the department has
continued to work to address the “Our Minds
Matter” report recommendations, which are
included in the 2019-2020 annual report.
Progress and important milestones have been
achieved since 2019.

For instance, as per Recommendation No. 7 of
the “Our Minds Matter” report, the coroner’s
inquest into suicide recommendations is
reflected in the new Mental Health Act that
received Royal Assent on June 8, 2021. The
new Act provides for greater family
involvement in suicide prevention and mental
health care. It makes it mandatory to consult
the selected representative at various points
during the client’s mental health care journey
and to notify them that certain events have
taken place, for example, following a suicide
attempt.
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In line with Recommendation No. 8 of “Our
Minds Matter,” Health has clarified roles and
reporting structures for both paraprofessionals
and professional mental health and addictions
positions. All mental health and addictions staff
now report to the territorial director of mental
health and addictions. The Mental Health and
Addictions and Inuusivut divisions have also
been brought together under one organizational
structure. The primary reasons for
implementing this change are to improve care
for Nunavummiut and supports for staff
through better alignment of the management
functions, and to create more streamlined
services for Nunavummiut with respect to
mental health and addictions, and suicide
prevention. This change enables standardized
programs and brings Inuit traditional
approaches in mental health care together with
clinical services, among other items.

In addition to monitoring the implementation of
the “Our Minds Matter” report
recommendations, the 2019-2020 annual report
includes systemic issues identified by the
Representative for Children and Youth. One of
the issues identified is the importance of
considering the voice of young people when
making decisions on their behalf. Health works
and consults with young Nunavummiut on
several projects and programs. For instance, the
Tobacco and Cannabis Program engages
regularly with youth to talk about cannabis and
tobacco harm reduction and to get their
feedback on initiatives in development. For
example, during the community consultations
for the Tobacco and Smoking Act in winter
2020, the Tobacco and Cannabis Program
visited young people in classrooms and youth
centres in various communities. It is important
to highlight that the Tobacco and Smoking Act,
which was also adopted during the spring 2021
sitting, introduces several new measures to
protect the health of children and youth.

These initiatives are examples of the work
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Health is doing to ensure the services and
programs we provide meet the needs of
children and youth. We acknowledge that there
is still a lot of work to be done, but it is
important to celebrate achievements and
progress.

Mr. Chairman and Members, I thank you again
for the opportunity to appear before you today.
Lastly, I would like to emphasize that the
Department of Health works closely with other
Government of Nunavut departments to better
meet the needs of children and youth, and [ am
happy to be here alongside the departments of
Family Services, Education and Justice. We all
share a common goal and Health looks forward
to continuing collaboration to advance the well-
being of children and youth.

Mr. Chairman, this concludes my opening
comments. (interpretation) Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you, Ms.
Stockley. We will now hear from the
Department of Education. Ms. Hainnu, please
proceed.

Ms. Hainnu (interpretation): Thank you. Good
day, good afternoon. Mr. Chairman, before I
begin with the Department of Education’s
opening statement, [ would like to thank the
Standing Committee for inviting me to speak
today on the Representative of Children and
Youth’s 2019-2020 Annual Report. I would
also like to introduce Charlotte Borg, Director
of Student Achievement, who is accompanying
me today. Thank you, Charlotte.

A healthy and successful education system
requires the collaboration of students, parents,
school staff, and education partners. The
Department of Education is committed to
developing strong relationships with these
community members and stakeholders to build
an education system that provides the best
possible learning opportunities for
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Nunavummiut.

(interpretation ends) All Nunavut children,
youth, and young adults are directly impacted
by our department’s programs and services,
which provide foundational skills to support
them as learners while they are in school and
beyond. We also provide a wide range of
programs and services that enable youth to
develop healthy relationships, self-reliance, and
respect for themselves and others. These
programs and services empower young people
to advocate for themselves and their
communities.

The Representative for Children and Youth’s
Office (RCYO) also works to provide youth
with similar tools of empowerment and
resiliency. As an independent office devoted to
ensuring the rights of young Nunavummiut are
respected, they have a mandate to advocate on
behalf of young people and to inform children,
youth, and those who work with them about
their rights. The RCYO lets our young people
know their rights and encourages self-
expression on choices and decisions affecting
them.

Because of our shared responsibility to children
and youth, we work closely with the RCYO to
promote their communications and awareness
campaigns in our schools and support their
advocacy work, both at the individual and
system-wide levels. From our department’s
perspective, our intersecting and shared
programs and services have developed into an
open and collaborative relationship.

One of the ways our department has worked to
keep a strong relationship with the RCYO is
ensuring students and educators are made
aware of child and youth rights. Whenever
RCYO representatives are in a community,
they have the opportunity to visit our schools.
The RCYO has conducted its Raise Your
Voice: Self-Advocacy Workshop for students
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in grades 7 to 12, educating them about their
rights and instilling confidence with self-
advocacy skills. As the 2019-2020 annual
report states, 696 students participated in this
informative workshop.

Our department was pleased to work with the
RCYO on their first child rights book, Mosesie
Speaks Up, which supports our Inuktut
Titiqqiriniq literacy program. We are also
pleased that the RCYO has created a second
book, Annie and Ugi Play Out. Our department
will distribute this book to all elementary
schools in Nunavut, along with an extension
activity to support classroom learning on the
topics of problem-solving, working together,
and advocacy, which are addressed in this
book.

We welcome RCYO recommendations to our
department on areas concerning the rights of
children and youth. In this year’s annual report,
the RCYO has highlighted a number of
recommendations for our department. This
includes recommendations the RCYO provided
during the consultations on the Education Act.
With the assent of the amended Education Act
on November 10, 2020, it is my hope that we
will have time during these hearings to provide
information on how the RCYO’s
recommendations were incorporated into the
amended Act. For instance, I would like to let
the Committee Members know that the
amended Education Act affirms “Nunavut’s
commitment to the implementation, in the
public education system, of the United Nations
Convention on the Rights of the Child,” which
was one of the RCYQO’s recommendations.

(interpretation) Mr. Chairman, in previous
Representative for Children and Youth’s Office
annual reports, we were pleased to see
examples of our collaborative relationship.
Sections called “Advocate Applause” and
“Case Samples” illustrated departmental
programs that have had positive impacts on
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children and youth, and provided
Nunavummiut with context to understand
which areas the department can improve on.

These stories of successes and challenges
illustrated our working relationship with the
Representative for Children and Youth’s Office
and clearly showed how it impacted young
people’s lives. The stories also provided
important context to the statistics published in
the Representative for Children and Youth’s
Office annual reports. We encourage the
Representative for Children and Youth’s Office
to continue to work with our department to
provide this context for a more fulsome picture
of the work we are doing to support children
and youth.

(interpretation ends) We have shared with the
RCYO our concerns about the disconnect
between the information our department
provided for the 2019-2020 annual report and
what was published. We are currently working
with the RCYO on their 2020-21 annual report
to ensure that the information we provide better
represents the data that the RCYO wishes to
highlight in their annual reports.

We will also continue to share updates of our
work during our twice yearly proactive
meetings so that the RCYO understands our
context and our ongoing successes and
challenges. We look forward to that ongoing
dialogue and sharing our stories with the
RCYO and working together to implement
important recommendations that will benefit
young Nunavummiut.

Mr. Chairman, with our ongoing collaborations,
I am happy to say the Department of Education
is continuing to maintain and enhance the
working relationship we have with the RCYO.
Our department strives to maintain this good
relationship because making children and youth
aware of their rights is so important. There is
nothing more powerful than when a young
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person understands their rights and harnesses
that knowledge to advocate for themselves.

(interpretation) I look forward to both of us
achieving the best possible programming and
services for Nunavut’s children and youth so
that they feel safe, heard, and empowered.
Thank you. (interpretation ends) Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. I thank
everyone who is present here. Our hearing will
proceed. We will be reviewing the 2019-2020
annual report and we will be asking questions
in different sections. (interpretation ends) The
Committee has decided to move through the
report with a number of different sections,
beginning with the introduction section of the
report, so I will now open the floor to questions
from Committee Members. Mr. Lightstone,
under introduction, go ahead.

Mr. Lightstone (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. (interpretation ends) Thank you,
Ms. Bates and all of your staff, both here as
well as those that are in the office. Ms. Bates, |
would like to thank you for producing this
annual report as well as re-creating the format
and adding your own style to it.

Given the outbreak in Iqaluit that had occurred
and postponed our original date for this
televised hearing, I’'m glad that we actually got
around to having this very important meeting
and discussion.

Again, more importantly, I would also like to
thank all of your staff at the Office of the
Representative for Children and Youth for
continuing their role of ensuring the
Government of Nunavut provides ethical,
equitable and consistent services that meet the
needs and support the rights of young
Nunavummiut.

Although our role as Members of the
Legislative Assembly is to scrutinize the
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government and ensure that programs and
services do fit the needs of Nunavut, I just
would like to reiterate and express my
appreciation for all of the Government of
Nunavut’s service providers who assist our
children and youth, from school staff to social
workers, health care professionals and
individuals across the justice system, but as was
outlined in this annual report and every other
annual report from this office, there is and still
remains some room for improvement.

Jumping into my questions, again, Ms. Bates,
thank you for revamping this annual report, and
putting together a very strong introductory
message from the representative, and on this
first page, of course, you identify that you are
new to this role and you have also identified
three prominent things that were brought to
your attention throughout the year: some
Government of Nunavut employees are not
being held accountable for their decisions
and/or actions; that by not acknowledging and
addressing the abuse that some children
experience, it is being condoned; and that there
is an accepted complacency that this is “Just the
way of the north” and actions do not need to be
taken to address arising problems.

For my first question, the first issue that you
have identified there that some Government of
Nunavut employees are not being held
accountable for their decisions and/or actions, I
was wondering if the representative would be
able to elaborate further on what it is that she is
trying to identify there. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank
you for the question. When I talk about
accountability and when I talk about
complacency and people not being accountable,
I want to talk about it on two levels. Actually I
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would like to start off by apologizing. I would
like to start off by saying all of my responses
and all of my answers will be based on
evidence that [ have as a result of our work. It
is not my opinion; it is based in what is
presented to our office.

In our work at the office and what I have seen
over that last two years, we have observed that
many staff at all levels are not following policy,
procedure, and legislation as it relates to
delivering services for children and youth. We
bring this to the attention of the respective
departments on every case or issue that we’re
dealing with, and why I say there has been a
lack of accountability is we see the same issues
reoccurring in cases on a repeated basis.

I will give you an example of some of the
things that I am talking about: not completing
required documentation. There is a policy and
procedure at Family Services that
documentation or contacts need to be
completed within 24 hours. This is not
occurring. When we request information, we
find in cases that information isn’t present. This
is an ongoing issue. When I talk about no
accountability, it’s not being addressed.

Also another example that I would like to give
is entering into agreements. There are things
called plans of care that are entered into with
families, and again, we see consistently not
following the legislative requirement to enter
into plans of care or to ensure that families,
particularly parents, are advised of their rights,
and subsequently this impacts children. This is
not a one-off instance; we see it repeatedly in
cases.

When I have raised concerns around staff not
being held accountable, again I want to say it’s
not just frontline staff; I see it through all
levels. We’re often told it’s often a capacity
issue and I think that this has become the
accepted explanation. Although I acknowledge
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that there are capacity issues for many
departments and I believe in the opening
comments, particularly Family Services have
struggled with staff retention, having staff in
positions which, based on my own professional
experience, | know that it’s extremely difficult
in the child welfare area to retain staff, to keep
them trained and all of those issues.

However, I do challenge some of this
explanation around capacity because what
we’re seeing is people, in completing the job,
people who are in the job are actually not
following the policies and procedures. It’s not
your absence of staff; it’s that there is someone
in the position who is not following a policy or
procedure. That’s a little bit different.

The other piece of accountability that I would
like to speak to is my office requests
information on a fairly regular basis from
varying departments, and some of those
requests go unanswered. Information that is
received is often incomplete and requires many
follow-ups for us to obtain the information that
we are requesting, which causes work for the
department, and we certainly don’t want to
cause work for the department. I recognize it
can be a burden to have to gather information.

I also want to say that when we request
information, the information that the RCYO is
requesting is often information that should
already be in the possession of the department.
For example, I may request an investigation
report that should have been completed, so it
should be on hand and should be readily
accessible. It shouldn’t have to be generated as
a result of our information request.

Again, we often see information request
deadlines come and go with no
acknowledgement that they’re late or
requesting extensions, and again, [ want to say,
on some occasions, we’ve had conversations
with departments who said “We simply can’t
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give you the information.” Absolutely, I
completely understand that, and we negotiate
out what is a reasonable time frame to receive
that information, but this is a consistent issue
that we continue to see and again, we don’t see
that accountability piece of how to correct it.

I also want to talk a little bit about
accountability from a more systemic
perspective. There are a couple of issues that |
have seen in terms of the numbers around
violent incidents in schools and the tracked
numbers. In terms of accountability for that
particular issue, my understanding is that
violence in schools and the need to track and
formulate and accurately track that information
has been known since at least 2013 because the
Department of Education had established a
committee called the Safe Schools and Anti-
Violence Committee and this was back in 2013.
My understanding is the purposes of this
committee was to basically report on violent
incidents in schools and develop a form to
create consistent tracking. We’re now in 2021
and that still is not occurring, so where is the
accountability in terms of the formulation of
that form and the accurate tracking?

The other issue I would say from a systemic
perspective is the client information system as
it relates to family services. That particular
system was recommended...let me just see
here. The Office of the Auditor General
reported this as a concern, and the client
information system was put forward by the
department as a remedy for these concerns.

In 2011 the Department of Family Services
stated, “It is hoped that a new system, a client
information system, would be agreed upon,
recommended, financed, and ready for
implementation by the end of the 2011-12
fiscal year.” Six years later the Department of
Family Services, in their 2018-19 annual report,
listed one of their key achievements was the
implementation of the client information
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system and that it was expected that all staff
would be trained and fully utilizing the system
by the fall of 2019. In January 2020 my office
met with the Department of Family Services
and we enquired about the implementation and
use of the client information system. We were
advised that the system was in a global testing
phase, training had been completed, but the
system was not in use.

Again, this is a very long period of time, and
my question is: where is the accountability? In
terms of this client information system, it
would benefit the department, although it’s not
going to remedy the issues related to
documentation or the lack thereof, but those are
just a few examples in my view of the lack of
accountability. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Ms. Bates, for providing that
explanation and you provided a lot of
information. I was taking some notes and I will
be following up on those items later.

First, I would like to move on to the second
prominent issue which you have identified
which is, as you noted, “...that by not
acknowledging and addressing the abuse that
some children experience it is being
condoned...”

On page 3 you also indicated that “Having
received a list of the critical injuries and deaths
of young people that have occurred over the
past five years from the Department of Family
Services,” you were “shocked at the frequency
and extent of violence and physical and sexual
abuse noted.”

Further down the page you also note that “All
young people have the right to be free from all
forms of abuse, including physical abuse,
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sexual abuse, emotional abuse, and neglect...” I
think that is something that we can all agree
upon, but in the next sentence it states that
“Child sexual abuse has been normalized for
Inuit children.” That was a quote taken from
Pauktuutit Inuit Women of Canada.

I would like to thank you for including
references to the rate of abuse that children are
facing in Nunavut. Unfortunately I could not
agree with you more. This is an issue that I
have been raising repeatedly over the years.
Just last year I asked the government if it felt
that the current state or rate of child sexual
abuse in Nunavut could be considered a crisis,
and the response that I received, I believe, was
that it was not. I also had previously stated that
the Government of Nunavut, by not addressing
this crisis that we are in, that our children are
in, is guilty by association.

My next question for you Ms. Bates, as it has
been identified in numerous reports from your
own, Pauktuutit, Stats Canada, and so forth that
there is an unacceptable rate of child sexual
abuse in the territory, my next question is: at
what point should it be considered a crisis and
at what point should a strategy be formulated to
address it? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank
you for the question. I was hoping I would be
asked this question. I’'m going to ask you to
bear with me because I want to share a great
deal of information that I think is relevant to
answering this question.

First, I want to start with the numbers that we
reported in the annual report that show that 625
in-territory registered sexual offenders was in
this report, 438 had offences against children,
which accounted for 70 percent, a shocking
number.
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I am aware that updated numbers were reported
in the Legislative Assembly sitting, I believe, in
October 2020 with 416 sexual offenders, 50
percent of which, 209, had offences against
children, still an equally shocking number.

According to the Canadian Centre for Child
Protection, upwards of 93 percent of child
abuse cases are never reported to the police or a
child welfare agency, such as Family Services.
That means that only 7 percent of child abuse
cases are ever brought forward to an agency
that would investigate child abuse or end in
charge and conviction.

In my professional experience, the number of
cases of child abuse reported to child welfare
agencies or departments such as Family
Services that actually involve the police and
end in charges and convictions are very low in
relation to the number of actual referrals of
child sexual abuse.

Mr. Chairman, on March 4, 2020 the Minister
responsible for Family Services stated in the
House when asked how many children are
making disclosures of child sexual abuse, the
Minister stated, “...pretty much guaranteed,
maybe twice a week.” That means any year,
Family Services is receiving approximately 104
reports of child sexual abuse a year. I did the
numbers. [ am a social worker by trade, so I did
use a calculator, just so you know.

The final piece of information that I would like
to share about this issue is when there is
discussion about whether this is a crisis, when
you look at all of this information that I am
providing together, I would say yes, this is a
crisis. I actually looked up the actual definition
in Webster’s Dictionary about what a crisis 1is,
and it says, “A crisis is a situation that has
reached a critical phase.” The second part of the
definition is it’s “an unstable or crucial time or
state of affairs in which a decisive [change] is
impending.”
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Based on the information that Family Services
provided on March 4, the number of registered
sex offenders currently in the territory and the
additional information that I provided as it
relates to the unknown numbers, what we don’t
know, I would say that based on all those
factors, this is a crisis and I would term it as a
crisis.

I would say that according to the World Health
Organization, in order to address a crisis or
what we would consider a public health issue,
you must first start with a description of the
magnitude and impact of the problem. What I
mean by that is you must be keeping accurate,
statistical information about the number of
referrals that you are receiving as it relates to
this matter.

I trust that answers the question. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone, are you done? (interpretation ends)
Okay. Before we go to the next name on my list
here, I would just like maybe on one particular
topic, I was going to go to Family Services and
just for the Committee’s benefit, if you could
clarify, Ms. Niego, what types of information
systems you have within your department; a
client information system and then there’s a
case management system. I don’t believe those
are the same things, so maybe if you could just
give us a brief overview of what the different
data tracking systems you have within the
department are. Ms. Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) I assume you
are meaning currently versus in 2018-19 or
both. Currently the CIS system, the client
information system, a former vendor contract
has been closed and a new one is upcoming. A
lot of the work done to institute an electronic
database still remains. We will be working with
a new vendor to utilize the electronic data that
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has been created.

Apart from that, we have various means of data
storage. There is client information on paper, in
files, in emails, in various offices, on data
sticks and other electronic, small storage
devices. There a variety of different media, but
I would like to include Arijana Haramincic, if [
may, to expand.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Haramincic. (interpretation ends) Go ahead,
Ms. Haramincic.

Ms. Haramincic: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for the question.

...(inaudible).. .tracking logs in regard to the
referrals, the type of referrals, the source of the
referrals and the follow-up to the referrals that
are being received. Of course there are the
traditional hard copies and administrative
processes that are being used to keep the hard
copies such as legal information that is required
for some of our families. Ma’na, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Thank you for clarifying
that a bit and if it’s possible, we will come back
to that later. Mr. Qirngnugq.

Mr. Qirngnuq (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I would first like to speak to the
opening comments. We are here to discuss
children and youth and I am pleased that this
initiative has gone forward. We all know our
children have to be cared for. Those of us who
are parents want our children to be treated
fairly.

Due to these reasons, you have to think of those
who care for children and the topic of our
meeting here today. The Department of Health,
the Department of Justice, the Department of
Education, and the Department of Family
Services are all discussing this area, but there
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are different factors involved. Some involve
people who have been abused in their lives or
as youth. This is being discussed.

Mr. Chairman, we all have the same goal here.
However, I am making this comment in view of
the youth and children who are being abused in
any way, whether physically or sexually. It
starts with the people, adults, parents, or others.
We all know that those who have gone to
residential school were abused in the past and
not just Inuit but all the people who went to
residential school.

Due to that reason, mental health was discussed
by all the witnesses. How can we come to an
understanding when it comes to addressing
children and youth being abused? I wonder if a
brief explanation can be provided on that, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank
you for that question. What needs to happen to
address child abuse across Nunavut is, I think,
the question you’re asking me. In order to
address child abuse and prevent it, there needs
to be a clear understanding first and foremost,
as [ previously said, of the size of the problem
and understand its impact on children and their
families. Again, I can reiterate: the starting
point is accurate understanding of the
magnitude of the issue.

Interventions and services should be developed
and provided to children, youth and their
families to address the abuse and hopefully
prevent future generations from experiencing
abuse and neglect. There needs to be a
community understanding and
acknowledgement that child abuse is occurring
and what constitutes abuse because I often
believe that there is confusion around what
constitutes abuse. Interventions have to take
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into account historical trauma and all the
factors that contribute to child abuse and
neglect. I also think that you also need to look
at interventions that include extended families,
how they can intervene and how the
community can intervene.

Keeping a family together cannot be prioritized
over protecting a young person from abuse and
I can’t stress this enough, but it doesn’t mean
that they have to be placed in the care of the
director. Again, in my professional experience,
creating committees, family group
conferencing in terms of getting a family and
community together to address these issues and
create safe places for children is very
important, but again, if you don’t understand
how often this is happening or what is
happening in each community, you can’t
address the problem; you can’t create a
solution.

I would also like to say that you need to create
a continuum of services, from prevention to
intervention, offering interventions and support
that address the root cause of abuse. Mental
health services, addiction treatment, and trauma
counselling all are part and parcel of these
interventions. There needs to be accountability
for service providers to offer a full continuum
of these services, which is always challenging,
but I cannot stress enough that this is how you
address child abuse and there must be
collaboration across the departments. All the
departments must work together because each
department may have a role to play.

The last thing I would say about child abuse is
people need to speak up about it; we need to
talk about it. It’s an uncomfortable situation,
it’s an uncomfortable conversation, but not
talking about it and not addressing it doesn’t
make it go away and it creates more risk; it
creates more opportunities for children not to
be protected and grow up and live their best
lives.
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I would also say that having been in child
welfare for a very long time, in my professional
experience, working with families and children
as it relates to child abuse, there are many great
resolutions that come, but again, you have to
have a starting point and that’s where you need
to start in order to move forward to a solution.

I trust that answers the question. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Qirngnugq.

Mr. Qirngnugq (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for the response from the
Representative for Children and Youth. The
youth have negative thoughts that they are
keeping inside them and many often resort to
suicide. This is a big problem. Where then
would I get a clear comment on this, where
youth who have experienced abuse may go to
seek counselling, with whom they would feel
comfortable with? Could we envision that in
the smaller communities? Mr. Chairman, I just
wanted to raise this question to get a clearer
understanding. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Qirngnuq. Who is your question directed to?
Mr. Qirngnugq.

Mr. Qirngnugq (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Perhaps I would direct it to the
Department of Family Services, if a response
can be provided by one of the witnesses. These
are issues that all departments have, but this is
my first question to the Department of Family
Services. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) I think I need to
repeat the question. Where do youth go to
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particularly in small communities? Where can
they find this support?

For Family Services, I guess how I can best
answer is to get that proper care and help, it’s
not just about having open doors; it’s also about
having people you feel safe to go to, so people
from your own community. We need more
Inuit social workers. We need more Inuit
support staff, such as family resource workers,
case aids, even administrative staff; the front
person closest to your doorways. We need that
across all of the different departments, our own
people, in our own languages, with our own
ways of doing and thinking.

If I take this question along with the one
previous to that, for example, with Family
Services stating that child abuse or child sexual
abuse as an emergency, as a crisis, for Family
Services, the restructuring or the reorganization
I spoke of in my opening comments mentioned
the reorg for Family Services, we outlined a
hundred positions needed just to handle our
current mandate alone.

To declare an emergency requires serious
commitment and if it means taking social
workers from the RCYO office, [ would beg of
them for social workers to come to Family
Services, people who are trained to help,
mentor, and coach others because we are in
serious need of support people who understand
social work. (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) I would also like to give
the Department of Health a chance to respond
to Mr. Qirngnuq’s question regarding suicide
prevention and a link between that and mental
health issues, perhaps, stemming from abuse.
Ms. Stockley.

Ms. Stockley: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. As of
May 10, looking at numbers here, there are
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mental health and addictions staff in every
community, with the exception of Grise Fiord
that has phone coverage.

Now, the stats don’t tell the whole tale because
it tells me that there are one or two or a few
positions filled, and like Family Services, one
of the problems that Health has is the ability to
hire staff and have staff in important positions.
There are a number of issues that are
contributing to that, as everybody knows. I
know it was discussed in the recent legislature
with the lack of staff housing and lack of ability
to fill positions, but as of right now, there are
mental health and additions staff in each
community and Grise Fiord has phone
coverage.

The other thing that I just wanted to note is that
the Department of Health is working with the
Department of Family Services and making
sure that there is proper training, particularly
for sexual abuse investigations. Health staff
receives training on child sexual abuse through
the Umingmak centre and Dr. Amber Miners,
so you might be familiar with. She’s at the
Qikiqtani General Hospital, pediatrician. She
works with the centre and she has extra training
and qualifications in child maltreatment and
trauma, and forensic sexual assault exams.

Just for an example so that you are aware, in
February 2020 health paraprofessionals, a
medevac team, nursing students, residents,
hospital staff, and mental health consultants
took trauma training on sexual abuse at the
QGH, which was presented by Dr. Miners
through the Umingmak centre, and then in the
fall of 2020 health staff attended presentations
on sexual assault and trauma in children. Dr.
Miners again provided education and
presentations at the QGH and health centres
and that was over telehealth and during
paediatric community clinic visits.

In February 2021 Health, through the
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Umingmak centre, did a presentation with the
RCMP about trauma and child maltreatment in
Rankin Inlet to a multidisciplinary audience,
and Dr. Miners did morning rounds
presentation on childhood trauma at the Rankin
Inlet centre during this trip as well.

Then in the spring of 2021, the Umingmak
centre and partners through Radius Child and
Youth Services provided virtual training on
sexual trauma to additional staff in the centre
and one health staff. Health recognizes that this
is a huge concern and we currently have a
contract with Radius Child and Youth Services
to provide training to paraprofessionals across
the territory regarding sexual abuse and trauma
informed care, and many of the
paraprofessionals, I want to say all, but I’ll say
most are Inuit and are living in community. The
centre will continue to provide training to its
partners, including Health, on sexual trauma
and other traumas.

With regard to the community of practice and
having this top of mind for health care
providers who are providing care for children
and youth, health clinicians attend a bi-weekly,
multidisciplinary team meeting relating to
trauma through the Umingmak centre as well.

I hope this answers your question. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Qirngnugq.

Mr. Qirngnugq (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I also thank you for your response
and clarification. I hope that there will soon be
people who are approachable and not
intimidating that young people can be directed
to, not only young people but all people.

Mr. Chairman, my last question is for the
Representative for Children and Youth
regarding her 2019-2020 annual report. On
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page 3 it states that “Further, the list I received
is incomplete because, as I mentioned earlier,
the Department of Family Services has
admitted that these occurrences were not being
tracked consistently.” I don’t know how long it
has taken. When can we expect to have that
information available?

Mr. Chairman, I hope I was clear and, if not,
then I can elaborate further. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I would
ask just for clarification on what the specific
question is, if you don’t mind.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Qirngnugq.

Mr. Qirngnugq (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I will say this in English so you can
understand me clearly.

(interpretation ends) The Representative for
Child and Youth, on page 3 under paragraph
no. 2, I’ll read the note here. “Further, the list I
received is incomplete because, as I mentioned
earlier, the Department of Family Services has
admitted that these occurrences were not being
tracked consistently.” Mr. Chairman, can I get a
little more clarification on this note?
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) That’s regarding critical
injuries and deaths. That’s the topic. Ms. Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. What
you’re referring to is the critical injury and
death request that we made to Family Services.
Just to put some context around this, the section
of the Representative for Children and Youth
Act, I believe it is section 19, requires the
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director of child and family services and the
coroner to report all critical injuries and deaths
to our office. Our office doesn’t have the
legislated authority to review critical injury and
death.

In December 2019 it came to my attention that
critical injury specifically had not been
consistently reported since the provision for
reporting had come into effect in September
2015. I had requested from the Department of
Family Services for them to provide, dating
back to September 2015, a list of critical
injuries and deaths that should have been
reported as per the reporting requirements for
September 2019 up until March 2020; I’'m
correcting that.

Family Services provided that list; we received
it in late March 2020 and the accompanying
letter was that the list was not accurate in terms
of either they hadn’t been consistent...again,
the consistent tracking or recording of critical
injuries and deaths, specifically critical injuries.

As it relates to abuse, I’m just going to connect
that back, is sexual abuse is considered under
our definition a critical injury, so we rely on
Family Services to report critical injuries and
we keep a database in which we log all critical
injuries and deaths reported to our office. We
then compelled the department to continue to
create basically a tracking system and

accurately reporting from that moment forward.

We are still experiencing some difficulty in
terms of accurate and consistent reporting as it
relates particularly to critical injuries.

I trust that answers the question. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Qirngnugq.

Mr. Qirngnugq (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.

Chairman. It’s not really the last one, but the
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last one for now; it’s more of a comment than a
question. On my first question, I’'m going to ask
that question. When would staff be hired that
children are not scared to approach? When |
asked that question, it was on this topic and it’s
under this topic.

Mr. Chairman, I’ll stop there for now. I know
other Members have questions. I’ll have more
questions on that at a later time. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Qirngnugq. (interpretation ends) Under the
introduction section, any further questions from
the Committee? Mr. Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I’ll
just ask a couple of questions about the child
and youth operations of her office. You have
been in your office now for two years, and I'm
just wondering if you could inform us today on
any of the key issues and challenges that you
identified when you first took this role. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Yes, |
have been in the role since July 2019. In terms
of challenges that I have experienced as the
representative and how it relates to the
operations of the office, again, what I would
say is requesting information and receiving
information that I requested has been an
ongoing challenge. When we make an
information request, it may be related to a
recommendation or it may be related to a
specific individual advocacy case.

One of the challenges that, again, has been
consistent has been, and not all departments,
receiving that information and receiving
information that actually speaks to often the
recommendation or answers the question that
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we’re asking. We have had occasions where we
have requested files, so an entire case file, and
upon reviewing the file, we recognized that not
all pieces of the file are contained in our
information request and we must go back and
say “There is information missing” and then the
department has to complete the information
request. This has been an ongoing
challenge/issue, if you would like.

In terms of other challenges, I think the other
challenge I would say is the operationalizing of
the critical injury and death program. As you
know, it’s the fourth program that is legislated.
Of course the section of the Act, 4(b), is not in
force, that allows the representative to review
critical injury and death, and it’s not possible
until that particular section of the Act comes
into force, until accurate tracking and reporting
is completed, and then certainly a request has
been made regarding additional resources for
the office to operationalize that program.

If today the section of the Act was brought into
force, operationally it wouldn’t be possible to
complete those reviews for numerous reasons
in terms of the number of critical injuries and
deaths that we know about and also, we would
need additional staff to be reviewing them and
writing reports. That would be the other
challenge that has been in front of me.

Again, I guess the other thing is just that
compliance with not meeting timelines or
deadlines around information requests has been
a major challenge.

I trust that answers the question. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. As
of today, are you satisfied with the structure of
your office or are you considering any
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fundamental changes at your office in the near
future? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. At this
time, structurally, I am satisfied with the
structure of the office. Also, I say that
considering that there is a fourth program that
potentially will become operational. Yes, at this
point in time, in anticipation of operationalizing
that fourth program, I would be satisfied with
the current structure as it is. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. With
your office still, a large number of your cases
will probably involve Inuit youth. I wonder if
you can just inform us today or give us some
information on the type of employment at your
office. Are you adequately staffed to cover the
Inuit language complaints that may come in
and as well as the French language? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank
you for the question. Currently I have nine full-
time staff at the office. All positions are filled;
four are Inuit and five are non-Inuit. We have
currently two of the staff members at our office
speak Inuktitut and the intake specialist
position is bilingual; it’s a bilingual imperative
and is full-time employed. Also, I should say
that one of our staff is currently on a transfer
assignment to Family Services, one of our Inuit
staff, for capacity building. Also two of our
staff are fluent in French as well, so we can
provide those language services as required.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you, Ms.
Bates. (interpretation ends) I'll just follow up
on Mr. Rumbolt’s question regarding the office
structure. In your current business plan one of
the priorities in 2020-21 was “Continue to
engage with communities and explore
enhancing the office’s presence across the
territory.” I wonder if you could update us on
that priority item, which was from the last
fiscal year. Ms. Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. In terms
of engagement with communities, certainly the
last fiscal year, the year that we’re talking
about, *19-°20, we go out on community
engagement visits. We try to do that. We
visited 11 communities and I think that’s
outlined on page 47 of the annual report. We
see a direct correlation between community
visits and referrals to our office. In terms of,
obviously, this fiscal year with the COVID-19
situation, community visits were not possible
and at the end of the fiscal year, the *19-°20
year, | believe two community visits had to be
cancelled as a result of the COVID-19
situation.

In terms of community engagement, our social
media platform has been launched this fiscal
year, it wasn’t in last fiscal year, to try to,
again, widen out our ability to engage. I do
know that there have been past questions about
expanding out and creating another office in
another community. That’s certainly not
something that’s front and centre as part of our
business plan simply for two reasons: there is a
fourth core program, the critical injury and
death program that I believe should be
operationalized first, and secondly I think,
again, we would put a business plan forward
regarding staffing and those types of things, but
at this time we’re not considering it. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Thank you. That
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concludes the Committee’s review of the
introductory section and before we move on to
the next section, I’ll call a 15-minute break.

(interpretation) We will take a 15-minute break.

Thank you.

>>Committee recessed at 15:19 and resumed
at 15:42

Chairman (interpretation): The meeting will
resume. (interpretation ends) When we left off,
we just concluded the introductory section of
the report, and we will move on to the 2019-
2020 annual report section, status of young
Nunavummiut. For Committee Members, this
section goes from pages 5 to 9 and I’ll open up
the floor for questions in this area. Mr.
Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I’ll
start off with a question for the department of
child and youth.

The “Status of Young Nunavummiut” section
of your 2019-2020 annual report provides some
baseline statistics in different areas related to
services provided by different government
departments. You note on page 2 of your report
that the intention of this overview was “to
provide baseline information that could be used
by GN decision makers...”

How did you determine what specific statistical
information would be most relevant to the
Government of Nunavut decision-makers?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. How we
determined what general statistics to collect as
it relates to the status section is we actually
looked at what was publicly available
information from Statistics Nunavut and also
we looked at similar information that’s
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generally collected by responsible
governments, what we would expect to see
them collect, and we also looked at other
jurisdictions in terms of what might be
reasonable information.

What I want to say is that we were trying to
collect information that would provide a
holistic picture in terms of what’s the
population base; young people. When we
looked at a department, what would be
information that we thought would be relevant
to describe the status and provide a holistic
picture of what the experience of children,
youth and their families are as it relates to
government services.

I trust that answers the question. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. In
Ms. Bates’ response, you mentioned other
jurisdictions. I wonder if you could give us
some information on how your office works
with other jurisdictions of child and youth
across the country. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Our
office is a member of the Canadian Council for
Child and Youth Advocates. That’s all the child
and youth representatives across Canada.
Currently Ontario doesn’t have a specific
representative office. That function has been
absorbed into the Ontario ombudsman’s office.
Basically all of these representative offices, we
all get together about twice a year, we talk
about national trends, we talk about making
statements about what may possibly... . We
wrote a paper around suicide rates across the
country.
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Really, again, the council is, again, made up;
they’re all independent officers and we share
information in terms of what our experiences
are. We do have variances in our Acts in terms
of our powers, but also in developing the office,
let’s say, like critical injury and death, we
accessed another office in BC to look at their
critical injury and death program. The benefit
in terms of operationalizing an office, I think,
has been incredibly beneficial. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you. Again, on the other
jurisdictions in Canada, how does your
department compare Nunavut to other
jurisdictions? Are there any comparisons in any
way or are most of the situations in Nunavut
unique to Nunavut? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. At the
council we don’t specifically talk about, let’s
say, individual cases, so I can’t say that we get
into that level of specificity, but I can tell you
that we talk about more systemic or global
trends in terms of, I’ll give you an example,
youth transitioning out of the director’s care, so
out of foster care. We talk about those types of
bigger systems issues.

Currently we have been talking about some
concerns related to... . There’s what’s called
interprovincial protocols that exist between the
directors of child welfare that talk about how
child welfare cases move between provinces
and how provinces work together or territories
work together to deal with issues. There have
been some concerns raised about the inter-
jurisdictional protocols.

In terms of are we similar to other jurisdictions,
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there certainly are similar issues, but like any
other community or province or territory, we
have our own unique challenges in terms of
we’re a northern community, but [ would say
that there are some similarities in terms of more
systemic concerns. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Again, for the child and youth representative,
the status information for the Department of
Education on page 6 of your report includes
statistics on daycare facilities and the number
of spaces for different age groups. From your
perspective, what are the key issues of concern
with respect to daycare facilities and
programming in Nunavut communities? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I think
the primary issue is generally not enough
access, so there are not enough daycare spaces
accessible for all children. I think that would be
the primary concern that we have experienced
or that we would raise. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Again on page 6 of your annual report it
includes statistics on the number of violent or
physical assault incidents that occurred in
schools between August 2019 and January
2020. Was your office involved in addressing
any of these incidents and, if so, how did you
and your staff work to resolve each situation?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Currently there is no reporting requirement as it
relates to violence in schools to the department.
We were not involved in any of the incidents,
to my knowledge, and/or resolving them. We
obtained this information, again, when we
requested the status section from Education.

We requested this information because it was
prompted when I appeared before Standing
Committee regarding the Education Act and I
was asked a question about violence in schools
and was | aware of it. It did cause me to ponder
why because it seemed to be an issue. It was
one of the reasons that I requested that
information because clearly it was an issue that
was identified at that particular Standing
Committee. Subsequently when we received
the information, clearly it’s an issue that needs
to be addressed.

In terms of our involvement in those, no, we
have no involvement and there is no
requirement to report those incidents. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
would like to ask a question now to the
Department of Education and again, with the
information on violence on page 6 of the Child
and Youth Representative’s annual report, the
report indicated that the information is
inaccurate. What are the reasons for the
inaccuracies and what policies have been put in
place to better record and address these types of
incidents? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Hainnu.
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Ms. Hainnu (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you very much for asking
that question. (interpretation ends) Thank you
very much for the question. I fully appreciate it
because this report, first of all, stipulates that
there have been 885 violent incidents. For
school staff, a violent incident maybe a five-
year-old taking off their jacket and throwing it
or it could be an eight-year-old running quickly
and slamming up against a locker and running
into a class. It could be two six-year-olds
coming in from recess and pushing each other.

Violent incident reporting requirements were
not in place when the requisition from the
RCYO was put into the Department of
Education. That’s why it is said to be
inaccurate because we captured swearing,
running, disobedience. We call these violent
incidents. In the future when we collect violent
incidents, perhaps these could be better defined
in terms of are they physical like punching, are
they threatening in nature, but we didn’t have
that put in place in 2019-2020 reporting. Every
incident report that has been captured on this is
an incident report taken by a teacher and
followed up with thorough action. Thank you.

I hope that answers your question. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Just
a follow-up question to that: you stated that
that’s the way it was in the past, but as of
today, are your reporting requirements any
different and, if so, how do you do it differently
today? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Back to you, Ms. Hainnu.

Ms. Hainnu: Thank you. It’s weird to be
waiting for the light.
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Thank you very much. The reporting system
that we have come up with alluded to us by
Jane Bates earlier is the reporting system that
we have begun piloting. It is affiliated. We
have worked on it with the NTA and it is
digital, so it could be violence student on
student, student on teacher, teacher on student,
or administrator. Anyone can have access to it.
It will be online. It is online. We are piloting it.

With the incident reporting, we will continue to
capture incident reports because they are action
item reporting systems within a school and they
are reported on a monthly basis for our RSOs,
but territory-wise we are assigned with very
specific data. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.

Rumbolt is done with his questions. Mr. Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. My
question is to Ms. Bates. Information presented
on page 7 of your annual report includes
statistics on the number of nights young people
spent at family violence shelters. Recently a
youth overnight shelter has opened in
Cambridge Bay, and funding is available for
entities in other communities to open overnight
shelters for youth. How has your office been
involved in these initiatives? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. The
short answer is we have not been involved in
those initiatives. We heard the funding
announcement at the same time as the rest of
the Legislative Assembly did and the public
did. We have not been involved in the
formation or anything related to those. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Akoak.
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Mr. Akoak: Thank you. My next question is
for Family Services. Information presented on
page 7 of the Child and Youth Representative’s
annual report indicates that the department does
not track information on the number of
homeless young people in Nunavut. From your
perspective, to what extent is homelessness a
factor in young people who need the services
from your department? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) You are
correct; we don’t track the number of young
homelessness there is in Nunavut. There was a
recent homelessness research study completed
by the department in recent years there where
some indication is. I can’t recall the exact
number for youth.

The shelters in Nunavut are not run by the
department. The majority of them are
contracted out, so there are contribution
agreements signed with non-profits or
municipalities in the community. That’s where
the information may lie. (interpretation) Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Akoak is done. (interpretation ends) Mr.
Simailak, go ahead.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. My
first question is on page 6, the number of times
a crisis response was required. If I can get a bit
of clarification on what is actually a crisis
because earlier when Ms. Hainnu was speaking,
a violent incident could be a student throwing
their jacket to the floor and I don’t consider that
violent. When I saw “violent,” I thought these
were fights. I’'m wondering what constitutes a
crisis response. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Hainnu.

Ms. Hainnu: Thank you. Thank you for the
question. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I am
looking for my crisis response tab on my
computer without finding it, but we have a
crisis response manual that is with our Safety
and Health Division and they look at when a
child enters the school through a bus, how we
function, how we operate, to when they get out
of the bus and how they get into the school and
how they are in the school.

In the crisis response manual there are eight to
nine different crises that have been identified
and they are outlined a response as school
administrators. Schools are outlined what to do
in a crisis situation. Crises could be anything
from a facility emergency and it could be a
crisis response for sudden death in the
community, sudden death of a youth; a suicide
attempt of a student. It could be witnesses to
traumatic events.

We have tried to come up with all types of
crisis scenarios that our students might live
through and come up with a response because,
during a crisis, administrators and schools
should not be left alone to figure things out. It
should be already outlined. There should
already be a plan. Someone should have
already thought of them and so the crisis
manual is what we try to do and we’re always
adding onto it.

CPHO school closures are also in the crisis
response manual, by the way. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Simailak.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Ms. Hainnu, for that
clarification. To the RCYO, on page 7, nights
young people spent at family violence shelters,
4,304, to my understanding, not every
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community has a violence shelter. Does that
mean the number in Nunavut is actually higher
than this 4,304? First question. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Mr. Simailak, do you want
to maybe just reformulate your... ? I think I
know what you’re getting at, but maybe if you
can just rephrase your question, Mr. Simailak.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. This
number, 4,304 nights young people spent at
family violence shelters, that number is only
calculated or put together using data for
communities that have shelters. Is that correct?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I think
this is probably best answered by Family
Services because that information came directly
from them, so I would think they would be in
the best position to answer that question. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Ms. Niego, I believe what
Mr. Simailak is trying to get at is: to what
extent does this number, 4,304, reflect the
actual need for shelter for young people in
Nunavut, keeping in mind, as you mentioned,
that not every community has a family violence
shelter? Ms. Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) This
information was obtained from the family
violence shelters that we have agreements with.
You have to keep in mind that they are not
required to provide this information on a
regular basis. It is not our information.

What we did gather as a result of the
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representative’s office asking, it took hours of
work to pull together some information. The
number also is made up of, for example, a
woman with two or three children coming into,
in Iqaluit, Qimaavik and could spend two
months. That’s how many kids times how many
nights and that adds up to a large number.

I think that perhaps maybe the number you
would be more favourable to is how many new
intakes there are, which we do not have that
information. (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Simailak.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman,
Iksivautag. Going forward now, is there a plan
in place to fully encompass all the Nunavut
communities that do not have a shelter so that
we can really look after our young people that
might need these types of services? Is there
something on the horizon or is there a plan? |
hope that’s understandable. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) I think, first
and foremost, our electronic database, the CIS
system is most critical to gathering proper
information. The reason for the ending of the
first contract was because part of it is [ wasn’t
satisfied with the information being able to be
obtained from the system, hence the new
contract upcoming to be more clear about the
data that we require, which would then be
applied to every single community where we
have social workers in every single community.

Until then, I have to rely on spreadsheets or
anecdotal information, whatever our frontline
can provide and whatever they can gather from
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their partners, such as the shelters. This isn’t
our information; this was gathered by our staff
who aren’t supposed to be doing that kind of
work, so it was an additional duty on top of... .
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Simailak.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. My
last question for now, I believe: so whose job
should it be then to gather that information? Is
it your department? Your office? Health?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) I think,
definitely for Family Services, anytime we
come into contact with a homeless youth, there
is a level of case managing and connecting the
youth to services. It’s not that those children
are left out in the cold. That’s not the case
whatsoever. There are likely many instances
where youth have been assisted and it’s not
captured in our systems. It is likely a duty of
every service that comes into contact with
youth. (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Before we go to the next
name, | would just like to give Ms. Bates a
chance to comment on that statistic. Mr.
Simailak, if you will allow, I would like to turn
your question to the representative.

We look at that number, 4,304, as we sit here as
decision-makers. How can we interpret that
number? To what extent should we look at that
number and say that represents the actual need
for young people to sleep in family violence
shelters, keeping in mind that we don’t have
enough shelters? We don’t have them in every
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community, as Mr. Simailak mentioned. When
we look at this number, what kinds of things
should we keep in mind, in your opinion? Ms.
Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Originally when we requested this number, the
original number that was reported to us, just for
clarity’s sake, was that the original number was
presented as 4,304 children, and then we
looked at the number, went back to the
department and said, “Are you sure that this is
right?” That seemed like a very large number
and so we went back and we said, “Are you
sure that’s not bed nights?” Because that would
make more sense to us, and they did clarify and
say it was bed nights, which again makes more
sense, but when I look at this number and then
again, family violence is considered to be a
potential child protection concern and also,
there are contribution agreements.

As I understand it, those contribution
agreements that run the shelters or that Family
Services has to run the shelters, again, [ would
come back to, you can’t understand... . If
you’re not collecting data on who needs to
access the shelter and you can’t readily grab
those numbers, it’s difficult to interpret the
data. This also doesn’t include, I understand it,
[ am aware that there have been children and
families who are in the territory in shelters;
they have been sent out to access shelters. I
don’t know what that number is, but I’'m aware
through the work of our office that there is an
additional group, however large, that is out in
shelters outside of the territory.

Again, what I come back to is it’s very
difficult... . This is concerning, but again, it’s
hard to look at this number and have a full
understanding of what it means because, again,
if you’re not accurately tracking who is
requesting shelter services and you’re not
accurately tracking those numbers, it’s hard to
understand need, magnitude of problem, and
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those types of issues, but certainly we were
quite surprised by the high number.

I hope that answers your question. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Maybe just for further
responses, just keep in mind the need for the
interpreters to keep up and I’ll wave at you for
a reminder. Moving on. Mr. Keyootak.

Mr. Keyootak (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I may be ahead here or we will get
into item 16. Is it okay to ask now?

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I understood some
of the questions asked earlier and the responses
on how people are serviced outside of Nunavut.
I believe an MLA asked and a response was
given, but [ wanted to get further clarification.
In the report, we have nine who were dealt with
outside of Nunavut. I would just like to get
some clarification here on page 16. We have a
figure of nine who have been serviced outside
of Nunavut and I just want to ask how they are
cared for. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Actually
I would like Lynn Matte to answer this
particular question.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Matte.

Ms. Matte (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Thank you for
the question. In reference to page 16 of the
annual report under the individual advocacy
section, the number “9” for out of territory
refers to the number of individual advocacy
cases that were brought to our office that were
in regard to services out of territory. Some of
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those services could have included a voluntary
service agreement with the Department of
Family Services for medically fragile children.
It could have involved accessing mental health
support out of territory. It could have also
involved fostering out of territory, and I believe
we had at least one case where we’ve had a
family that required shelter services out of
territory. (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Keyootak.

Mr. Keyootak (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. On the same page, page 16, we have
a figure of 95 and we have the cases here;
English is 95 and Inuktitut is only 2. What does
that represent? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you for the question. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman. I’m going to turn this over
to David Korgak, the Manager of Individual
Advocacy Services, to speak to it. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Mr. Korgak, go ahead.

Mr. Korgak: The information in that table
represents the language that was used on an
individual advocacy case. Out of the 98
individual advocacy cases, 95 were all English,
two had Inuktitut that was used, and one was
French. That represents times where maybe a
client requested Inuktitut or Inuktitut was used
in a portion of the advocacy case. We do have
advocates and our intake specialists that speak
Inuktitut and we have multiple people who
speak French within our office, so language
preferences are always respected and we make
accommodations where necessary. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
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Mr. Keyootak.

Mr. Keyootak (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Based on his points, I do understand
what is said, but perhaps is this because of lack
of Inuktitut-speaking staff or the clients prefer
to be dealt with in English? Is Inuktitut staffing
a problem? Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank
you for the question. I’'m going to turn this
again over to David Korgak to answer.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Korgak.

Mr. Korgak: As previously mentioned, right
now we have four Inuit staff within the
Representative for Children and Youth Office;
two are fully bilingual. Our intake specialist is
fully bilingual and one of our child and youth
advocacy specialists is bilingual as well.

When it comes to the cases that are presented in
this annual report, typically we accommodate
clients. If they wish to speak Inuktitut, we are
going to accommodate and speak Inuktitut. If
English is their preferred [language], we will
continue to do so. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Keyootak.

Mr. Keyootak (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I’ll turn to another issue regarding
family services. It was mentioned earlier by my
colleagues that in the small communities,
sometimes people are hesitant to talk with the
social workers and counsellors, but they
generally are more open to people coming from
outside.

However, sometimes when we’re in the same
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community, some individuals don’t like to
speak with other individuals, even if they have
a lot to say and some end up committing
suicide, often because they are not
communicating with counsellors or social
workers, and young people in particular.

I believe every community has social workers.
Does the Department of Family Services have
any plans to perhaps find other social workers
to visit the community? For example, the
people at the Piqqusilirivvik centre come in and
provide a lot of support in the community. Can
we envision social workers from one
community to pay visits to other communities?
Is there any thought of that in the plans? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Department of Family Services, Ms. Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Especially this
year with COVID in place, the department did
secure an extra amount of money for extra
social workers. I’'m not sure if health and
mental health workers were a part of that
COVID relief package, but for social workers,
there is this pot of sending in extra, almost like
a rotating relief team to bring extra support. For
example, Kinngait recently has had some youth
issues, so this team’s first task is to go into
Kinngait and assist with the community. Next
would probably be Arviat with some recent
issues there.

Often when we have a vacancy, it’s very
sudden. Someone may be going on sick leave
or completing their term or they have done their
time in that community and have moved to
another community. We’re always looking for
extra social workers. We have a large vacancy
and being one of the newest departments in the
whole of government, we still struggle to find
office space and get our competitions seen.
Even though we are considered a priority
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competition, it’s still always a struggle with
lack of housing as well.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. The
Department of Health would also like to
respond to your question, Mr. Keyootak. Ms.
Stockley.

Ms. Stockley: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Yvonne. In response particularly to
COVID, community mental health staff found
creative ways to deliver mental health and
wellness initiatives and services during the
pandemic, and that was through different
platforms: interactive radio shows were in some
communities, social media presence,
community contests, care packages, virtual
interactions, and phone calls, just as you
explained to have access to different people in a
time of need. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Keyootak is done. (interpretation ends) We’re
on the section titled “Status of Young
Nunavummiut.” Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Before I get into my questions, I just want to
follow up. I just have a few follow-up questions

in relation to some of the responses that we’ve
had so far.

The first topic that I would like to question was
an issue of children who age out of the
director’s care within the Department of Family
Services. I was wondering if the department
would be able to provide a brief breakdown or
example of when a child would age out of care
and what exactly does the Department of
Family Services provide to those children after
care. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Niego.
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Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) I believe you
are referring to, on page 7, the number 15,
young people who aged out of care. The sub-
note is young persons who turn 16 years of age
while in the care of the director. Our legislation
allows for care up to the age of 26 and so we
call those extended service agreements. There
are individuals, however, who do age out of
care. Perhaps I can flag this with Arijana
Haramincic on the line, if I may.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) We will go to Zoom. Ms.
Haramincic, in terms of Mr. Lightstone’s
question.

Ms. Haramincic: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for your question. What it actually
means for the children to age out is basically
for the department, when the child reaches the
age of 16 and, in some situations, the age of 18,
they are no longer cared by a foster home or a
group home and with the same support that
they had individually prior to the age of 16 or
18. We enter into the agreement with them at
that age if there is no guardian or a parent or
someone that could support them on an
ongoing basis.

We provide support, emotional support,
financial support, planning, educational
support, and ongoing support for employment
and independent skills. This is, as Ms. Niego
said, up to the age of 26. We’re the only
territory or actually province and territory in
Canada that supports young Nunavummiut up
to the age of 26. Many have stopped any
supports to youth at the age of 18 or the latest
of 21. When they do reach age 26, exiting
supports from the family services means that
we are supporting them into the adult support
services if this is required or support them to
their independent living until they live
independently or being self-sufficient.
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I hope this answers your question.
Ma’na, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
My next question is for the representative. On
page 7 you identified a blank space for the total
number of young people who received referrals
and reasons for referrals. I’ve got two questions
in relation to these two items. The first question
is: why was this information included and
secondly, what exactly were you trying to
identify here? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. The
request for information was the number of
referrals that the department received, so it’s a
general number. When I say the word
“referral,” what I’m referring to is the number
of phone calls that says the child is in need of
protection, requiring services. We wanted to
know for a year how many referrals did Family
Services receive.

The second part of that number is what the
reason was for referral. In most jurisdictions,
this information is collected. If someone calls
in to Family Services and says “I’m reporting
suspected child abuse,” it would be logged and
they would code it as alleged sexual abuse.

Those two sections, that’s what that’s referring
to, and the reason that we included it is we
thought it was concerning that the Department
of Family Services doesn’t keep track of the
number of referrals for the year and the reason
for the referrals. I trust that answers the
question. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

PDLENALOCRLS, L'a, Ab/R/UD>CSe,

AP/RMCSe: 'a. MC CAYD™,

cASYIe OLNNUO): Sdveal™, AbYRPCSH,
AASdNPb*a G PLLSPIANIC LASILS 7,

a e A®/ILLAC bN*o™NC [edbDC Cbd<
APD_O*LSOCD*LS/LNC L5Pead JASINPLGL
Cedo*L. AASINL Y2, SboALL 0d<
NN®CH>b?DL>ILRC L5 DS Sbo“c bCsb
aaA%’a c DPAY C2a? Sdral®,
Ab/RDCse,

AS/RPCSe: L'a. M <A,

<AS (ORNMNJO): sdyeal®, Ab/RPCS, Cbd<
De/SPNAT®>C SbC Do Pod*LC a\>NC
SHaC AC*MDC Cbdd Do LSos e
D>Sb>Sb®I*L, DSbc >Nede <sePL LA SbSLC
WSLUTLDL SGJC, ShhS A ocnsedC

Do D>SHECH<LE. ..

Acbbeo, SboALoa PAT® A*NNSb®Da Ad*L
DoD e, LRLDAS Ac g
o<dCP>AYMLC. CALD DSbe dsbo<c
AocndbdS, CAL PP AoS5eCDPLY CALc
NNSsb®C> oo <L Sdo¥sa<seC>YIC,

Cbdd C=R LLbdC COAT™L DSbDPseb Lo
CRa ASb/DNPCDC ANNN U
AFLPC >SN, APLOaSo™ M Aocndede
Cedo™L Sb>ALR < beCH LLC 5GJ<
Ao<o, SboALL > Do D>*LSoSLE,
PDLYNALLORLS, sdyal™, Ab/RPCSy,

AP/ PCSe: ', MC c AYI,

65




Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
My next question is for the Department of
Family Services. As it has been indicated that
other jurisdictions do maintain a log to track the
number of referrals that are received, my next
question is: why is it that our Department of
Family Services does not? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Thank you for
the question. The CIS project I was speaking of
earlier, the information database, this is exactly
one of the reasons why I was not satisfied with
the information coming out of the system. We
could not get what we wanted out of the
system, which unfortunately is a project that |
inherited and have been trying to work with to
make sure that we get the right information to
make better, sound business decisions.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Ms. Niego. Along the same lines of
questioning with regard to tracking
information, there was previous discussion
about how the department has created a quality
assurance team made up of a quality assurance
specialist and a senior compliance analyst to try
to correct some of these issues. I was
wondering if the department would be able to
provide a little bit more information on the
quality assurance team and specifically these
two different positions and provide a bit of an
update on what they have been working on and
any accomplishments that they have made in
that field. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Niego.
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Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) The quality
assurance team is really the team that we rely
on to respond to all the RCYO requests on a
regular basis. It’s almost daily there are
informational requests on frontline files and
then there are the systemic requests as well.

I think that the team involvement has also
assisted in digging down into some of the cases
where there has been information lacking. We
have been able to exhaust what information we
can mine from what has been a broken system.
They provide guidance. When they are asking
the questions, they provide guidance to the
frontline social workers and of course always
remind frontline workers of the policies and
legislative obligations in place.

Actually I would like to turn to Arijana for
further detail. She has overseen this new team.
They are an unfunded part of the department
and so I’ve had to squeeze money elsewhere to
create those two positions, Iksivautaaq.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) We will go to Zoom again.
Ms. Haramincic.

Ms. Haramincic: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
thank you for the question. This quality
assurance team implementation was initiated in
the fall of 2019, so it is very new and we are
still developing a framework and our approach
is quality improvement rather than quality
assurance because we’re looking at improving
the quality of the services and using this as
teaching moments or an opportunity for future
learning and future improvement of knowledge
and skills for all our staff.

One of the first things that have been done is
looking at a really broad picture of what the
services are and what are the greatest needs and
where can we do some best implementation of
some of the good practices. We’re scheduling
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regular file audits and we started with Iqaluit
and, Iqaluit being our largest office, provided
us with a really good view and a really good
sample of where our files are, documentation,
and where the issues are. As a result of the
audit, we also prepared the work plan that goes
back to the office or goes back to the
community where the audit was taken, and then
there is follow-up and expectation that there
will be some training sessions, that there will
be some educational supports provided to staff.

Also, our quality assurance team has been
updating and reviewing the standards manual,
adding the ISVs and also adding some
examples, some actual practise examples of
how do you practise those standards and how
do you acknowledge the standard and make it
better in order to be able to comply with those
standards.

Finally, something that is quality assurance that
came up is that every few months we do have a
Q tip, which is a quality tip that is shared with
all staff based on the audits or some of the ideas
for the staff to be able to provide better service
to young Nunavummiut. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Before I continue on the topic, I just wanted to
state that of course I do have the utmost
admiration for social workers. I understand that
it must be a very difficult job, providing that
type of assistance to vulnerable children, but
the issue of quality improvement, quality
assurance, as well as the capacity issues that
have been brought up on several occasions:
state of constant change at all staffing levels,
high turnover and retention rates, and excessive
workloads.

My next question for the Department of Family
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Services is in relation to the capacity levels of
itself at the social worker level. I was
wondering if Ms. Niego would be able to
provide some figures as to the total number of
social workers, CSSWs, and as well as a
summary of how many of those positions are
filled indeterminately. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) In a minute I’
turn again to Arijana, but initially part of the
reorg involved, because the department has a
broad range of programs, family wellness is
only maybe one-quarter of my department, in
the regions, regions were headed by one
regional director, which involved three of the
core programs and so to provide that better
support to the frontline, through the reorg, we
streamlined and created an extra regional
director and split Baffin into two.

We have four new regional director positions
for family wellness alone versus three directors
with three different programs each, and that
way you specialize a little better. On top of
that, we have regional managers as well for
family wellness.

Now I have lost the question, so I’ll bring it
over to Arijana. (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Haramincic.

Ms. Haramincic: Ma’na, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for your question. If I understand
the question correctly, how many social
workers are indeterminate and how many there
are vacant positions, we have 25 communities,
there are eight social workers in Iqaluit and in
any of the regional offices there are two to three
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social workers and other smaller communities
will have one social worker.

In addition to social workers, there are family
resource workers and foster care coordinators.
We have also added the homelessness
coordinators to regional offices. There are more
than social workers; there is also we are
developing a team that will be able to support
the community in a better way. There are also
case aids and what we call peer support or case
aids type of positions too, which will inform
our ability and a team approach to support the
families and to support families to safely care
for their children.

At any given time, we probably have about a 30
percent of the turnover and vacancy rate, which
is very high. We have been able to fill a
majority of the vacancies with CSAs, casual
staffing assignments, but there have been some
communities such as Arctic Bay that it has been
very difficult to have consistently a social
worker in place.

I hope that answers your question. Ma’na, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Before I go back to you,
Mr. Lightstone, I would like to give Ms. Bates
a chance to comment. When we come to the
interaction between Family Services and your
office, what has the effect been that you have
seen in your experience of the staffing situation
in terms of high turnover and issues around
vacancies? Ms. Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Certainly staffing has always been and is
always an issue. One of our concerns is, as |
understand it, a high number of the positions
are filled with CSAs as opposed to
indeterminately, and there may be several
human resource reasons for that. However,
what it doesn’t promote is stability. It doesn’t
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promote consistency. It also creates a situation
that if you have CSSWs coming and going out
of communities, your reliance on ensuring your
documentation is up to date and being
completed is all the more important because if
you have a new CSSW coming in on a CSA
and there is no documentation present, they
have nothing to work from.

I would also say in terms of the quality
assurance...l just want to speak to the quality
assurance team. That was formulated just
shortly after I had arrived in July and we
definitely saw some improvement or we saw
some, [ would say, improvement in terms of
actually some of the responses that we were
getting.

There has been a child welfare specialist
position that has been in existence for, I believe
and certainly the department can speak to this,
quite a number of years. According to its job
descriptions, one of its primary functions is file
audits, clinical supervision, and those types of
things. That position was filled for a
significantly long period of time up until, |
want to say, November 2020 and that should be
figured into the mix because that is one of the
primary functions, as I understand it, of the
child welfare specialist, to provide that
additional oversight, to do the file audits, to do
those types of quality assurance functions in
addition to the quality assurance team.

I think that absolutely and in child welfare this
is generally an issue around staffing. It is
difficult to keep staff and certainly in a northern
situation and in remote communities it can be
very difficult, but when you see the number of
temporary CSSWs, again, I think it lends to
instability and it lends to not being able to... .
People don’t become part of the community
and you’re having people coming and going,
which jeopardizes the quality of your services.
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I trust that answers the question. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Mr. Lightstone, back to
you.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Ms. Bates, for that explanation.

Going back to the department on the matter of
temporary social workers in communities, I’'m
sort of curious how the department is able to
find casual social workers, given the diploma in
social work or degree in child protection
experience is a requirement. Are these casuals
being with these requirements being found in
territory or are these CSAs being found out of
the territory and brought in? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Niego.

Ms. Niego (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Pretty much all
of them are being brought into the territory.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Just to remind the
Committee that we’re on the “Status of Young
Nunavummiut” section. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I’ll
move on to my next line of questioning. On
page 8 under health services, one of the
unidentified figures is in relation to births out
of territory. My first question to the
representative is: why was this information
requested? My second question to the
department is: why was this information not
tracked or included? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) That’s a first. It’s a two-
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part question to two different people. Are you
trying to confuse me?

>>| aughter
Ms. Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I thank
you for the question. The reason that we
included that is because we know there are a
number of births out of territory which
contribute to the population in territory. We
believe, in order to give you a holistic picture
of the population, we felt it was an important
statistic to understand.

I trust that answers the question. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Now for the Department
of Health, Ms. Stockley.

Ms. Stockley: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
There were a number of items, as you can see
by page 8, that were left out and are just
represented by question marks there. Some of
that were issues with regard to capacity with
the way that information is transferred from
one system to the other and some data
processing was delayed due to COVID. Some
of it was some miscommunication between the
Department of Health and the representative
along the lines of information being requested
from the Department of Health rather than from
the coroner, for example, and some of it was
missed deadlines on behalf of the Department
of Health.

I’m happy to say that we’ve got that
straightened out now. All of the required data,
as far as I’'m aware, has been now provided to
the representative and we have a process for
future annual reports. There are a couple of
letters that I have sent to the representative
since I have been here, one dated June 4, which
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provided most of the information in its allotted
table, and then we had another follow-up
exchange and we had a proactive meeting last
week.

Just so I’m clear, are you looking for the actual
number of births out of territory? It’s just going
to take me a second, Mr. Chairman, to find that
in this series of spreadsheets.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Yes, I think it would be
appropriate if you provide that to the
Committee at a later date in writing just in
terms of making best use of our time here
today. Ms. Stockley, is there anything else you
wanted to add to that? Ms. Stockley.

Ms. Stockley: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. No,
that’s it and we could actually, if it’s okay with
the representative, we could provide a copy of
the letter that was sent, if it’s okay. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Thank you for that.
Committee Members will never say no to an
additional document to review. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Ms. Stockley, for committing to
follow up on that matter.

My next question is for the representative.
There are a number of fields here with relation
to youth on medevacs or travelling out of
territory, I guess, while in care. My next
question for the representative on the topic of
youth travelling out of territory for medical
reasons or being stuck in an isolation hub, for
instance, have there been any occurrences that
have been brought to the representative’s
attention where youth on medical travel or
stuck in an isolation hub where they have been
put at risk? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Keeping in mind that we
are focusing on the 2019-2020 fiscal year
report, which mostly excludes the current
pandemic situation, I’ll give you a chance to
respond, Ms. Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank
you for the question. To your point, we
received no referrals with respect to concerns in
the 2019-2020 fiscal year. I can tell you that we
are currently reviewing a matter with respect to
one referral at this moment in time, in this
current fiscal year. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I’ll
move on to page 9, young people in the justice
system. In some of the previous responses, it
has been indicated that statistically across the
world or in Canada, 93 percent of child sexual
abuse never gets reported. Meanwhile, there is
still a significant amount of registered sexual
offenders in territory with about half of the
registered sex offenders who have committed
crimes or have been convicted of crimes
against children.

Lastly, it has been indicated that convictions
are very low. It’s very difficult to get a
conviction for a sexual crime against a minor.
This has been an issue that [ have been bringing
up repeatedly over the years. I recall that I had
previously asked a question to the Minister of
Justice either orally or through a written
question about the rate of court cases in
Nunavut for charges of sexual crimes against
children, and the Minister was unable to
provide, I think, any sort of statistical
information on that.

My question to the Department of Justice is:
since that topic had been brought up in the past,
has the Department of Justice started tracking
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that sort of information? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Mansell.

Mr. Mansell (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) The question
marks on page 9 are related to, if you see the
questions, they say matters before the court
regarding youth, we struggled to respond to
some of that because of the broadness of
“regarding youth.” However, in the most
recent, 2020-21, we have been able to respond
to the numbers with respect to specific
Criminal Code offences against children. We’re
able to pull that information when we have that
specificity and we have supplied that to the
advocate for the next report. (interpretation)
Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Mr. Lightstone, you might
have time for one more question. Go ahead.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
For my last question, on the bottom of page 9,
footnote 17 states that “Young people arrested
and held in cells until sober, as they were not
able to care for themselves due to their level of
intoxication, or there was no safe place for the
young person to stay where an adult could care
for them.” That’s in relation to item...sorry. At
the top, 109 young people picked up for alcohol
and drug related reasons.

My question for the department is: is there any
way that the department can provide any sort of
assistance or referrals to these youth so that
they would not have to be held in cells until
they sober up? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Mansell.
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Mr. Mansell (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) In most of those situations
when they are released, if necessary, we alert
the social worker and work with the social
worker in the community. If a young person is
put in a cell, they’re put in a cell on their own.
We’re not sort of mixing them with adult
offenders at any time. If they’re put in a cell,
it’s for generally their own safety, but the
detachments in the communities do have a
working relationship with Family Services and
do involve them as much as they can, but in
some instances there are young people.
Generally we’re talking 16 to 18 that are put in
a cell in a detachment when they are severely
intoxicated and posing a danger. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Mansell. I believe we have to recognize the
clock at this time. We had quite a few heavy
subjects covered today, although it’s difficult to
do in some respects. I believe we all remember
that we are meeting on behalf of the children
and youth and we will continue, as the theme of
our meeting is very important.

Our meeting will resume tomorrow morning at
nine o’clock. Enjoy your evening and we will

see you in the morning.

(interpretation ends) Thank you, everybody.
Have a good evening.

>>Committee adjourned at 16:56
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